IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 89,142

ARTHUR DENNIS RUTHERFORD,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR SANTA ROSA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GREGORY C. SMITH
Florida Bar No. 279080
Capital Collateral Regional Counsel
Northern District

HEIDI E. BREWER
Florida Bar No. 0046965
Assistant CCRC

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL
COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE
Post Office Drawer 5498
Tallahassee, FL 32314-5498
(904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Rutherford was indicted by a grand jury in the First Judicial Circuit, Santa Rosa County, for first-degree murder and robbery (R. 1). On January 28, 1986, trial commenced before the Honorable George E. Lowrey. The jury found Rutherford guilty (R. 74) and recommended death (R. 75). However, pursuant to a defense motion for mistrial, the court found the State had committed a material, substantial, knowing and willful discovery violation at trial and ordered a retrial (R. 106-11).

Venue was transferred for retrial to Walton County, before the Honorable Clyde B. Wells. Retrial commenced on September 29, 1986. The jury found Rutherford guilty on October 2, 1986 (R. 150). At the penalty phase on October 2, 1986, the jury recommended death by a vote of 7 to 5 (R. 156). Rutherford was sentenced to death on December 9, 1986, and the judge's sentencing order was entered on December 17, 1986 (2nd Supp. R. 3). Rutherford appealed his convictions and sentences, which were affirmed. Rutherford v. State, 545 So. 2d 853 (Fla. 1989), cert. denied, Rutherford v. Florida, 110 S. Ct. 353 (1989).

Rutherford filed a motion under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 on August 1, 1981 (PC-R1. 2). An amended motion was filed on October 16, 1992 (PC-R1. 286). The court entered an order denying relief on some claims and ordering an evidentiary hearing on Rutherford's penalty phase ineffective assistance of counsel claims (PC-R1. 386-94).

At the evidentiary hearing, Rutherford presented testimony and exhibits regarding trial counsel's preparation for the penalty phase and regarding mental health and other mitigation

available at the time of trial. That evidence is summarized in the Argument section of this brief as it relates to the individual claims.

Following the evidentiary hearing, the court denied relief (PC-R1. 675-834). Rutherford's motion for rehearing (PC-R1. 835-41) was denied (PC-R1. 845). Rutherford filed a notice of appeal (PC-R1. 846), and this appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Rutherford was denied effective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase due to trial counsel's failure to object to testimony presented by the state which was inadmissible hearsay and was irrelevant to proving aggravating factors. The improper evidence consisted of testimony by three friends of the victim regarding the victim's fear of Rutherford. Despite clear precedent holding such evidence inadmissible, counsel did not object. At the evidentiary hearing, counsel testified that there was no reason for not objecting to this testimony. Rutherford was prejudiced by counsel's failure to object because the State relied upon this testimony in urging the jury to impose death, the judge explicitly relied upon this testimony in imposing death, and the jury voted for death by a narrow 7 to 5 margin. Further, on direct appeal, this Court refused to address the issue regarding the friends' testimony because counsel had failed to object. Thus, a proper objection would have entitled Rutherford to an appellate reversal. Counsel's performance was deficient and Rutherford was prejudiced. Rutherford is entitled to resentencing.

2. Rutherford was denied the effective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase when trial counsel failed to investigate and present available mental health mitigation. Through prior competency reports and other documents, counsel were aware that Rutherford

had mental health problems relevant to two mental health mitigation issues, alcohol dependence and posttraumatic stress disorder. However, counsel did not seek appointment of a mental health expert to develop mental health mitigation. This failure was unreasonable in light of the information available to counsel. Presentation of expert mental health mitigation would have been entirely consistent with counsel's penalty phase strategy. Rutherford was prejudiced by counsel's failure. The evidentiary hearing established that statutory and nonstatutory mental health mitigating factors could have been proved at Rutherford's penalty phase. At trial, the court found no mitigating factors other than Rutherford's lack of criminal history because other factors lacked corroboration. This Court affirmed the trial court's findings and specifically noted that Rutherford did not claim to suffer from post-traumatic stress disorder. However, expert testimony at the post-conviction hearing established that at the time of the offense, Rutherford suffered from an extreme emotional disturbance, a statutory mitigator, and suffered from alcohol dependence and post-traumatic stress disorder from his service in Vietnam, both recognized nonstatutory mitigators. Rutherford is entitled to resentencing.

3. Rutherford was denied effective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase due to counsel's failure to investigate Rutherford's background and military service. In addition to the mitigating factors discussed in Argument II, testimony at the evidentiary hearing established that Rutherford was abused as a child, made contributions to society through his military service, suffered from family and domestic problems, contributed to his community by helping his friends and neighbors, and was a good father and provider for his children, all recognized nonstatutory mitigators. In light of the trial court's finding of no mitigators other

than lack of criminal history and the jury's close 7 to 5 vote, Rutherford was prejudiced by counsel's unreasonable omissions. Relief is proper.

4. Double Jeopardy precluded a retrial because the mistrial was caused by the prosecutor's intentional misconduct.

5. Mr. Rutherford was denied effective assistance of counsel at the guilt phase when counsel did not investigate available evidence. State agencies' failures to comply with public records requests hindered the ability to prove this claim.

6. The trial court erroneously summarily denied meritorious claims as procedurally barred.

ARGUMENT I

THE FAILURE TO OBJECT CLAIM.

At the penalty phase of Rutherford's trial, the State presented testimony from three witnesses who were friends of the victim. The purpose of presenting these witnesses was to elicit testimony that the victim was afraid of Rutherford. Although this testimony was inadmissible under well-established state law principles and highly inflammatory and prejudicial, defense counsel did not object to its admission. Counsel had no reason for failing to object (PC-R1. 90-91). Defense counsel's unreasonable failure to object permitted Rutherford's sentencing jury and judge to hear and consider this irrelevant evidence. Given the nature of the testimony and the 7-5 jury death recommendation, this evidence was extraordinarily prejudicial to Rutherford. 3.850 relief is required.

A. DEFICIENT PERFORMANCE

During the penalty phase, the State presented the testimony of three of the victim's friends, Lois LaVaugh, Beverly Elkins, and Richard LaVaugh. Lois LaVaugh had known the victim for several years (R. 805). After describing how she and the victim used to swim, play golf, and have dinner together (id.), Mrs. LaVaugh testified she had been at the victim's home the day before the murder, while Rutherford was there, and the victim related her fear of Rutherford:

[A.] And she said, "I am quite nervous right now," she said "A. D. Rutherford is here."

And I said "Do you want us to come over?" And she said "Yes, I would sure like you to come over." And she said, "He has been here quite awhile."

And the four of us jumped in the car and went over and he was on the front porch with no shirt on --

*** * ***

And we went in and I introduced my friends to Stella because she had not met them. And later on the van drove up and Stella went outside. And she said "Go ahead and show your friends the house." So I showed them the rest of the house.

And when she came back she said "I sure am nervous, he scared me," you know, she said, "He really has made me nervous" because she said he had come in the house with no shirt and sit on her couch. And she said "I told him that I had work to do outside" and they went outside and she was working in the yard.

Q. Did you have any further conversation with her about A. D.?

A. That afternoon after she was finished working in the yard and she came back over, she apologized to my friends after we got home, she apologized to the friends and she told them how scared she was of him that day.

Q. Of who?

A. A. D. Rutherford.

(R. 805-08)(emphasis added). On cross, Mrs. LaVaugh testified she had not heard any conversations between the victim and Rutherford (R. 812), and that she did not see Rutherford threaten or attack the victim (R. 813).

The State also called Beverly Elkins, the victim's next door neighbor (R. 820). Mrs. Elkins testified she had talked to the victim about Rutherford installing some sliding glass doors and the victim related:

THE WITNESS: So she said, "Do you think that he purposely left the doors where they'll not lock so he can get in the house.?" And she said, "I am afraid to stay here with my doors where they will not lock."

BY MR. SPENCER:

Q. How long was this before her death?

A. Several months before her death.

MR. GONTAREK: Same objection.

BY MR. SPENCER:

Q. If you would direct yourself to the period -- Did she form any feeling toward Mr. Rutherford, did she express it to you?

A. All right, then the Wednesday before her death on Thursday she and I went walking as I testified previously, and she told me that Mr. Rutherford came to her house that afternoon and she said, "I just wish that they would just quit coming to the house, I get very upset and they act like they are casing the joint."

And she said, "They came to the door and I went to the door and he had a screw in his hand. And I said, 'A. D., what are you doing with the screw?' And he said, 'Put it in the sliding glass door.'" And she said, "I told him that I already had the doors taken out because they did not work."

But they she said, "I just don't want him to come to my house anymore." -- She was frightened of him, she said. And she said, "He just keeps coming around."

And then when we finished the walk we stopped by the house and she came in my house and she told my husband, she said -- well, she had said that A. D. had sent Attaway to the bank. And he said, "I'll buy the doors back since I sold them to you for seventy-five dollars; I'll buy them back --"

MR. GONTAREK: Same objection, Judge. It is not one of the nine aggravating questions that the statute requires.

MR. SPENCER: Judge, it is if she will answer the question --

THE COURT: Overruled at this time.

BY MR. SPENCER:

Q. Direct your attention best you can to the emotional relationship between A. D. Rutherford as expressed to you by Stella Salamon the day before her death?

A. And that day she told my husband, she said, "If he comes to get the doors the next morning --" because she said Mr. Attaway came back after staying gone about an hour and A. D. said that he could not get a check cashed or get money at the bank or whatever and that he would get the money and come back the next morning, and that would be on Thursday the day that she was killed, to pick up the door.

And she told my husband, she said, she told my husband, "Joe, if he comes in the morning I'll call you to come down," because she was frightened. And she said, "If I call you do not walk through the woods, drive down, I want you down there." And he said, "Just call, Stella, and I'll be right there." And obviously we did not really think that she was in any danger --

MR. GONTAREK: I object she's completely beyond --

THE COURT: Objection overruled.

BY MR. SPENCER:

Q. Can you specifically say as of Wednesday evening what Mrs. Salamon was concerned about with reference to A. D. Rutherford?

A. She was frightened for him to come around her house and she wanted somebody to be there if he came back again.

(R. 820-25)(emphasis added). On cross, Mrs. Elkins testified that she had never seen the victim and Rutherford together (R. 826).

Finally, the State called another friend of the victim, Richard LaVaugh. On direct examination, LaVaugh testified that he and his wife socialized with the victim (R. at 814), and explained how he helped the victim with repairs to her home (R. at 815-16). On cross, defense counsel elicited the following:

Q. And are you able, Mr. LeVaugh [sic], to say that you ever saw A. D. Rutherford threaten Stella Salamon?

A. I can't say that I know that he threatened her, no.

Q. Or made any aggressive moves toward her?

A. Only what she said.

Q. **And he never communicated any threats to her that came to your knowledge?**

A. **She told my wife that she was scared of him and asked us to come over there because he was on the front porch.**

Q. Right. And I understand you went over there?

A. Yes.

Q. And he was sitting on the front porch?

A. Yes.

Q. And there was no argument or violence or anything in that period?

A. No.

(R. 818-19)(emphasis added).

Although this irrelevant, inadmissible and inflammatory testimony was not elicited by the State on direct exam and thus not technically part of a failure to object claim, counsel's

performance in cross-examination of LaVaugh is arguably even more unreasonable than their lack of objection during the testimony of Lois LaVaugh and Beverly Elkins because it demonstrates that counsel failed to appreciate the nature of the evidence admitted during the testimony of the first two friends. To the extent that allowing the jury to hear the testimony was unreasonable performance, whether by failing to object or by actually eliciting the testimony on cross-examination, all three friends' testimony will be considered together.

To establish deficient performance under Strickland v. Washington, 466 U. S. 668 (1984), Rutherford must prove that "counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness," 466 U.S. at 688, such that "counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." Id. at 687. For the following four reasons, counsel's failure to object to the friends' testimony was objectively unreasonable in light of the inadmissible, irrelevant, and inflammatory nature of the evidence. First, precedent at the time of Rutherford's trial established that the testimony highlighted above was inadmissible hearsay at a Florida capital sentencing proceeding, and its presentation deprived Rutherford of his confrontation clause rights. Florida's capital sentencing statute at the time of trial provided:

Any such evidence which the court deems to have probative value may be received, regardless of its admissibility under the exclusionary rules of evidence, **provided the defendant is accorded a fair opportunity to rebut any hearsay statements.**

§ 921.141(1), Fla. Stat. (1985, 1986 Supp.)(emphasis added).

At the time of Rutherford's penalty phase, this Court had clearly held that for hearsay to be admissible against a defendant at a capital sentencing proceeding, the hearsay must be of a character which affords the defendant a fair opportunity for rebuttal. See Dragovich v.

State, 492 So. 2d 350, 355 (Fla. 1986); Perri v. State, 441 So. 2d 606, 608 (Fla. 1983).

See also Engle v. State, 438 So. 2d 803, 813-14 (Fla. 1983). The hearsay evidence presented in Rutherford's penalty phase did not provide a fair opportunity for rebuttal, and thus fell outside the scope of § 921.141(1). In stating that Rutherford made her nervous, the victim was expressing her opinion that Rutherford was acting in a suspicious manner. She never stated specific behaviors which prompted her reaction. Indeed, the penalty phase witnesses testified that they observed no threatening or suspicious behavior. Consequently, the substance of the hearsay was nothing more than the victim's opinion without any foundation expressed.

In Dragovich, this Court ordered resentencing because the State had introduced evidence at the penalty phase indicating that the defendant had a reputation as an arsonist. The Court held that allowing the introduction of such improper evidence "compromis[ed] the weighing process," 492 So. 2d at 354, because it allowed "improper considerations [to] enter into the weighing process." Id. at 355. The Court then explained:

Further, section 921.141(1) provides, in part, that all legally obtained, probative evidence, including hearsay, is admissible during the penalty phase, 'provided the defendant is accorded a fair opportunity to rebut any hearsay statements.'

We find that the hearsay reputational evidence employed here is not susceptible to the fair rebuttal contemplated by the statute. Were we to hold otherwise, penalty phase proceedings could well turn into 'mini-trials' on collateral matters. The only rebuttal possible in this context would be for the defendant to introduce witnesses to testify that he did not have a reputation as an arsonist. Assuming, arguendo, that resolution of this issue could result in ascertaining some apparent truth, it would merely establish the truth of the defendant's reputation in some circles as an arsonist.

Dragovich, 492 So. 2d at 355.¹

The situation here is analogous to the testimony deemed inadmissible hearsay in Dragovich because it was impossible to fairly rebut. Just as Dragovich could only introduce reputation evidence that he was not known as an arsonist, Rutherford would have been forced to introduce evidence that the victim was not afraid of him. Characterizing behavior as suspicious involves the perception of the person drawing the conclusion. To fairly confront such conclusions, cross-examination of that person is essential. Because the victim made the speculative conclusions here, no amount of cross-examination of the witnesses who related her bare statements would have been helpful in rebutting them. Under Florida law at the time of the penalty phase, the friends' testimony was inadmissible hearsay. Counsel's failure to object to the testimony was unreasonable. See Dragovich, 492 So.2d at 355.

Second, the friends' testimony during the penalty phase was also inadmissible because it was not relevant to prove any of the aggravating circumstances enumerated in § 921.141, Fla. Stat. The victim's state of mind at the time prior to the crime has no place in evaluating the circumstances of the crime for aggravating factors. In his sentencing order, the judge used this evidence as partial support for finding "cold, calculated and premeditated" (CCP) (2nd Supp. R. 5). This reliance was misplaced, however, because this evidence did not shed light on Rutherford's state of mind, which is the only pertinent consideration when assessing this aggravator. See, e.g., Jackson v. State, 648 So. 2d 85, 89 (Fla. 1994). Additionally, the reason for the victim's statements about her anxiety were speculative at best. She was

¹ Dragovich was decided on May 29, 1986, and rehearing was denied on August 29, 1986. Mr. Rutherford's trial began on September 29, 1986. (R. at 192).

suspicious, but no evidence of Rutherford's behavior provided a foundation for that suspicion. See supra. Consequently, the evidence had no bearing on Rutherford's state of mind.

Assuming that the victim's statements had foundation, they were still irrelevant to prove CCP. Her alleged suspicion was that Rutherford was "casing the joint" (R. 823). Evidence that a perpetrator is planning a theft or robbery is not a proper consideration in determining if CCP applies. See, e.g., Jackson v. State, 498 So. 2d 906 (Fla. 1986); Hardwick v. State, 461 So. 2d 79, 81 (Fla. 1984). Thus the jury should not have heard this evidence.

The testimony of the victims' three friends was also irrelevant to the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravator. Although the victim's state of mind can be relevant to this factor, it must be the mental state immediately prior to or contemporaneous with the homicide. See, e.g., Routly v. State, 440 So. 2d 1257, 1265 (Fla. 1983). The victim's mental anguish as the result of knowledge of impending death is the key consideration. See Id. The testimony in question here tended to show the victim's state of mind at a time well before the commission of the homicide. Additionally, there was no testimony that her anxiety was due to knowledge of impending death. Rather, it was merely the product of her own speculation which was not based upon any evidence of imminent threat of death. As such, under Florida law at the time of trial, the testimony was irrelevant. Again, defense counsel unreasonably failed to object on this basis.

Third, the introduction of the friends' testimony was also contrary to well-established Florida precedent prohibiting the use of testimony which would "evoke the sympathy of the

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