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

Despite an uncooperative client, trial counsel reviewed the entire record of the prior trial, took depositions, interviewed a number of witnesses, obtained or used two psychiatric evaluations, and conducted an investigation of Rutherford's background. Counsel made reasonable investigations or made reasonable decisions that particular investigations were unnecessary. As Mr. Treacy said, "We did not miss a witness that we were aware of from the intake, the initial conference with Mr. Rutherford or subsequent follow-up conferences, or with those of his friends who may give you the name of somebody else that could help. No. We did them all."

The allegation that counsel failed to interview two witnesses available to corroborate the Defendant's testimony regarding the source of cash found upon him or in his possession was unproven. Mr. Rutherford failed to establish that he told counsel about Mr. Pete Nelson or Mr. Winnie Perritt or that they were known or reasonably discoverable by trial counsel.

The Defendant's motion mentions a Mr. Pete Nelson and a transaction in which Mr. Rutherford allegedly sold Mr. Nelson some dogs. Mr. Nelson did not testify at the hearing. No explanation was given by defense counsel for not calling Mr. Nelson or presenting competent evidence about his testimony. The only credible testimony regarding a dog transaction was Mr. Treacy's. He interviewed a Mr. Jay Courtney who acknowledged paying Mr. Rutherford for three dogs. Mr. Treacy elected not to call Mr. Courtney to testify at trial because Mr. Courtney thought the Defendant had cheated him and was "the biggest crook I ever saw."

The second witness cited in the motion was Winnie Perritt. A Mr. Winston Perritt testified at hearing about paying an uncertain sum to the Defendant by check some days prior to the murder. Even if one accepted the Defendant's argument that counsel was deficient for failing to interview and call his witnesses, Mr. Rutherford did not satisfy the second *Strickland* prong.

Failing to call Mr. Perritt did not render the trial result unreliable.

(PCR IV 679-89) (footnotes omitted). The record supports these findings.

At the evidentiary hearing Arron Weston Perritt testified that Rutherford had been building a porch on Perritt's house and that Perritt paid him a couple of days before the murder. (PCR VI 168). Perritt's testimony merely corroborates Rutherford's testimony during the guilt phase of trial that Perritt paid him \$275 for building the porch and that he had spent part of that money. (DAR IV 635). During his testimony Rutherford stated several times that he had only \$125 put by at the house and less than \$10 (that he borrowed from Frank Kolb) on him the day of the murder. (DAR IV 618, 632, 633, 635). Rutherford has not demonstrated how Perritt's testimony would have prevented his conviction. As set out in issue III, supra, the record also supports the court's conclusion about the dog transaction.

The court made the following findings on the claim that an intoxication defense should have been presented:

This claim must be denied for three basic reasons:

a. As John Gontarek testified, counsel discussed the two available psychological evaluations and, under the circumstances, determined there was no need for mental health expert testimony at the guilt phase.

b. Any such testimony would have been diametrically opposed to the entire defense of the case; a defense strategy dictated by Mr.

Rutherford. Mr. Rutherford has always maintained he did not do the crime and was not at the scene. In fact, Mr. Rutherford tried to blame the crime on someone else named Aterbury. The guilt phase strategy was based upon this unaltered position of the Defendant. A diminished capacity defense based on alcohol consumption would have been wholly inconsistent with and contrary to the strategy dictated by Mr. Rutherford. Given his insistence that he was not present when the crime was committed and that counsel maintain this defense, there is no merit to this claim.

c. There is no competent evidence Mr. Rutherford was intoxicated or otherwise sufficiently impaired at the time of the crime to the degree counsel should have pursued a diminished capacity defense.

Mr. Rutherford has failed to demonstrate trial counsel's guilt phase performance was deficient as that term is defined in *Strickland*.

(PCR IV 682-83) (footnotes omitted). The record also supports these findings.

The amended motion quotes several statements about Rutherford's drinking on the day of the murder, but none of the people to whom those statements were attributed testified at the evidentiary hearing. Furthermore, Rutherford's counsel did not question Gontarek or Treacy about such a defense. The following exchange occurred during the state's questioning of Gontarek:

Q: Now, in the area of the defense that you put together in this particular case on the guilt phase aspect of it what was your theory in that regard and what was presented to the jury?

A: That Mr. Rutherford did not do it [and] that somebody else had done it. And he tried to put it off on someone named Aterbury (phonetic) or something like that.

Q: Did any type of diminished capacity, alcohol defense ever come into play with this particular situation?

A: Never. Mr. Rutherford always maintained that he did not do it and was not there.

(PCR VII 391).

As stated in Strickland v. Washington: "The reasonableness of counsel's actions may be determined or substantially influenced by the defendant's own statements or actions. Counsel's actions are usually based, quite properly, on informed strategic choices made by the defendant and on information supplied by the defendant." 466 U.S. at 691. This subclaim ignores Rutherford's insistence that he was innocent and his adamant refusal to consider anything less than a verdict of not guilty. See DAR V 930; cf. Stano v. Dugger, 921 F.2d 1125, 1146 (11th Cir. 1991) ("Even a defendant who hires trial counsel for the purpose of making strategic decisions does not relinquish to his attorney final authority to make fundamental decisions, such as the plea he will enter."); Koon v. Dugger, 619 So.2d 246, 249 (Fla. 1993) (counsel not ineffective for failing to persuade client, who insisted on his innocence, to pursue an intoxication defense); Rose v. State, 617 So.2d 291, 294 (Fla. 1993) ("When a defendant preempts his attorney's strategy by insisting that a different defense be followed, no claim of ineffectiveness can be made") (quoting Mitchell v. Kemp, 762 F.2d 886, 889 (11th Cir. 1985), cert. denied, 483 U.S. 1026 (1987)). Furthermore, this subclaim ignores the fact that an intoxication

defense would have been inconsistent with Rutherford's claim of innocence. Cherry v. State, 659 So.2d 1069 (Fla. 1995); Remeta v. Dugger, 622 So.2d 452 (Fla. 1993); Engle v. Dugger, 576 So.2d 696 (Fla. 1991); Correll v. Dugger, 558 So.2d 422 (Fla. 1990); Harich v. Dugger, 484 So.2d 1237 (Fla. 1986).

Rutherford failed to demonstrate either substandard performance or prejudice as to this issue. The circuit court's denial of relief should be affirmed.

Rutherford also complains that the court erred in not canceling the evidentiary hearing so that he could pursue further public records requests. (Initial brief at 79-80). There is no merit to this claim.

As set out in the Statement of the Case and Facts, Rutherford filed his motion for postconviction relief in August 1991, and it took almost five years to get the case to an evidentiary hearing. Just prior to the evidentiary hearing, the circuit court quashed a subpoena on the Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE). (PCR VI 4). At the beginning of the hearing Rutherford brought the matter up again and complained that he needed records from FDLE. (PCR VI 6-9). The court responded that an amendment would be allowed if the newly discovered evidence standard were met. (PCR VI 9). After further discussion (PCR VI 9-15), the court adhered to its prior rulings and ordered that the evidentiary hearing would proceed. (PCR VI 15-16). Further discussion ensued (PCR VI 16-

21), and the court agreed with the state's suggestion that the hearing proceed as scheduled because, if truly new evidence were discovered, a subsequent postconviction motion could be filed. (PCR VI 21-24). Later, Rutherford attempted to question an employee of the sheriff's office as to why evidence not introduced at Rutherford's trial had been destroyed. (PCR VI 161-63). The court upheld the state's objection to this testimony that any claim it went to was not included in either the original or amended postconviction motion. (PCR VI 163-66).

Rutherford presented nothing at the hearing and has presented nothing on appeal demonstrating why the evidentiary hearing should have been canceled. The claims that Rutherford tried to present at the eleventh hour were raised too late. If they are pursued, and if truly newly discovered evidence is produced, the claims can be raised in a subsequent postconviction motion. Roberts v. State, 678 So.2d 1232 (Fla. 1996); Swafford v. State 678 So.2d 736 (Fla. 1996); Scott v. State, 657 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1995). This claim has no merit and should be denied.

As the last subclaim in this issue, Rutherford argues that counsel were ineffective in failing to discover that Jan "Johnson's qualifications as a blood spatter expert at the time of trial were suspect." (Initial brief at 80, footnote omitted). Johnson, an FDLE laboratory analyst, testified at the penalty phase of Rutherford's trial (DAR IV 788), and Rutherford raised this claim

as part of issue II (ineffectiveness at penalty phase) in his original postconviction motion. (PCR I 65-70). He has abandoned all complaints relating to Johnson's testimony except for her qualifications as a blood spatter expert because her "mentor," Judith Bunker, had "fabricated her credentials." (Initial brief at 81). There is no merit to this claim.

Johnson testified at the evidentiary hearing that she attended a one-week seminar on blood stain interpretation taught by Bunker and two other instructors. (PCR VI 150). Based on her training other than that seminar, Johnson would have held herself out as an expert without having taken Bunker's seminar. (PCR VI 154-55). Nothing presented at the evidentiary hearing demonstrated that Johnson's training was inadequate or that her conclusions were incorrect. Rutherford failed to demonstrate either substandard performance or prejudice, let alone both as required by Strickland v. Washington. This claim, therefore, should be denied.

ISSUE VI

WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY SUMMARILY DENIED SEVERAL PROCEDURALLY BARRED CLAIMS.

In its initial order on Rutherford's postconviction motion the circuit court directed that an evidentiary hearing would be held on the pure ineffective assistance claims, issues I through III and XIII (PCR II 387), and found the remaining claims to be procedurally barred. (PCR II 388-93). Now, Rutherford argues that the court erred in finding issues IV through XII, XIV, and XV procedurally barred because they all were concerned with ineffective assistance. (Initial brief at 84-85). Contrary to this contention, however, only issue X contains an allegation of counsel's ineffectiveness. As set out in issue IV, supra, claims not included in the postconviction motion and raised in the circuit court cannot be raised on appeal. Doyle v. State, 526 So.2d 909 (Fla. 1988); see also Valle v. State, no. 88,203, slip op. at 5, n. 6 (Fla. Dec. 11, 1997).

Issue X, the conflict of interest claim, contains an allegation of ineffectiveness (PCR I 157), but as pointed out by the circuit court: "The conflict of interest asserted in Claim X could have been raised on direct appeal. All requisite evidence was of record. No facts outside the record are alleged." (PCR II 392). The court correctly found this issue to be procedurally barred. Jennings v. State, 583 So.2d 316 (Fla. 1991); Kight v. Dugger, 574 So.2d 1066 (Fla. 1990); Correll v. Dugger, 558 So.2d 422 (Fla.

1990); Francis v. State, 529 So.2d 670 (Fla. 1988). Moreover, "[a] procedural bar cannot be avoided by simply couching otherwise-barred claims in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel." Kight, 574 So.2d at 1073; Cherry v. State, 659 So.2d 1069 (Fla. 1995); Lopez v. Singletary, 634 So.2d 1054 (Fla. 1993); Medina v. State, 573 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1986); Quince v. State, 477 So.2d 535 (Fla. 1985).

Despite the procedural bars, and the absence of allegations of ineffectiveness in the postconviction motion, Rutherford includes argument on several of the procedurally barred claims in his initial brief.¹¹ The state will address them in turn.

A. INSTRUCTION ON AND APPLICATION OF AGGRAVATORS

Rutherford argues that his jury received vague instructions on the heinous, atrocious, or cruel (HAC) and cold, calculated, and premeditated (CCP) aggravators.¹² As the circuit court noted (PCR II 389-90), Rutherford raised the applicability of the HAC and CCP aggravators on direct appeal, and this Court held that the evidence supported finding both aggravators. Rutherford, 545 So.2d at 855-56. Also as noted by the circuit court (PCR II 389-91), any other complains about these aggravators, including the standard

¹¹ These postconviction claims are V through VIII, XII, and XIV. Because the brief contains no argument as to the remaining claims, IX through XI, any complaint as to them should be summarily dismissed. Duest v. Dugger, 555 So.2d 849 (Fla. 1990).

¹² These are claims V through VII in the postconviction motions. (PCR I 99-136; II 333-59).

instructions, could and should have been raised on direct appeal. Because they were not, they are procedurally barred. Bush v. State, 682 So.2d 85 (Fla. 1996); Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 1995); Cherry; Harwick v. Dugger, 648 So.2d 100 (Fla. 1994). Besides not being raised in the postconviction motion, Rutherford's current claim that counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the instructions (initial brief at 86) has no merit because "trial counsel cannot be deemed ineffective. . . for failing to object to these instructions when this Court had previously upheld" their validity. Harvey, 656 So.2d at 1258.

B. NONSTATUTORY AGGRAVATORS

Rutherford argues that the trial court relied on nonstatutory aggravators, specifically, testimony of three friends that the victim was afraid of Rutherford, Rutherford's lack of remorse, and the first jury's sentencing recommendation.¹³ (Initial brief at 86). All of these "nonstatutory aggravators" were raised on direct appeal. Rutherford, 545 So.2d 856-57. Because it was raised on direct appeal, this claim is procedurally barred. Harvey; Medina; see also Cherry (complaints about nonstatutory aggravators are procedurally barred in postconviction proceedings); Bryan v. Dugger, 641 So.2d 61 (Fla. 1994) (same); Remeta v. Dugger, 622

¹³ This issue is claim XII in the postconviction motions. (PCR I 162; II 359).

So.2d 452 (Fla. 1993) (same). Therefore, this claim should be summarily denied.

C. WRITTEN SENTENCE

The trial court filed its written sentencing order several days after imposing the death sentence. Rutherford now argues that not filing a contemporaneous order violates the requirements of subsection 921.141(3), Florida Statutes.¹⁴ (Initial brief at 87). This claim is procedurally barred, Bush v. Dugger, 579 So.2d 725 (Fla. 1991); Parker v. Dugger, 550 So.2d 459 (Fla. 1989), and should be summarily denied.

D. DEPARTURE SENTENCE

Rutherford argues that his thirty-year sentence for robbery should be reversed because the trial court's failure to prepare a written guidelines scoresheet violated Pope v. State, 561 So.2d 554 (Fla. 1990).¹⁵ (Initial brief at 88). The trial court did not provide a written guidelines scoresheet with a reason for the departure sentence on the robbery conviction. On appeal, therefore, this Court relinquished jurisdiction and, later, approved the written reason for departure. Rutherford, 545 So.2d at 857. This Court issued its opinion affirming Rutherford's convictions and sentences on June 15, 1989, and denied rehearing

¹⁴ This claim is issue VIII in the postconviction motion. (PCR I 136).

¹⁵ This claim is issue XIV in the postconviction motion. (PCR I 175).

five weeks later. Rutherford, 545 So.2d at 853. The opinion in Pope, on the other hand, did not issue until April 26, 1990. Pope, 561 So.2d at 554. As the circuit court held (PCR II 393), this claim is procedurally barred because Pope is not a fundamental change in the law, and "failure to file written reasons for a departure sentence contemporaneously with sentencing does not constitute fundamental error." Domberg v. State, 661 So.2d 285, 286 (Fla. 1995); Davis v. State, 661 So.2d 1193 (Fla. 1995). Because this claim is procedurally barred, it should be summarily denied.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons the State of Florida asks this Court to affirm the circuit court's denial of Rutherford's motion for postconviction relief.